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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF VIRGINIA
ALEXANDRIA DIVISION

CAROLYN DYKES
INDIVIDUALLY AND ON BEHALF OF
ALL OTHERS SIMILARLY SITUATED,

Plaintiffs,
Trial by Jury
Demanded

V. Civil Action No.

VAN RU CREDIT CORPORATION,

Defendant.
October 4, 2017

Class Action Complaint for Violations of the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act
I. Introduction
1. Carolyn Dykes brings this suit on behalf herself and all those similarly
situated against Van Ru Credit Corporation, a debt collector, on account of its
misrepresentation of and non-compliance with the Fair Debt Collection Practices
Act (“FDCPA”), 15 U.S.C. § 1692, et seq., and federal student loan law.
IT. Jurisdiction
2. Jurisdiction in this Court is proper under 15 U.S.C. § 1692k(d) and 28
U.S.C. § 1331.
3. This Court has jurisdiction over the defendant and venue in this Court
1s proper, because the acts complained of occurred in this state and because the

Plaintiff and the Class Members are residents of Virginia.
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ITI. Parties

4. Carolyn Dykes is a natural person, who at the time of the actions
alleged in this Complaint, resided in Fairfax, Virginia.

5. The defendant Van Ru Credit Corporation (“Van Ru”) is an Illinois
Corporation headquartered in Des Plaines, Illinois and is engaged in the collection
of consumer debts. The Defendant uses instrumentalities of interstate commerce in
the collection of debts. It regularly collects debts from consumers located across the
Commonwealth of Virginia. At all times relevant hereto, Defendant was a “debt
collector” as that term is defined by the FDCPA.

IV. Factual Allegations

6. Plaintiff Dykes is a “consumer” as that term is defined by FDCPA §
1692a(3).
7. Plaintiff Dykes was a debtor with federal student loans that were

placed into default status.

8. Plaintiff Dykes’ federal student loan was “debts” as that term is
defined by the FDCPA.
9. After Dykes’ loans were placed into default status, they were assigned

to Van Ru for collection purposes.

10.  Van Ru sent letters to Plaintiff Dykes and the class members seeking
to have them pay the defaulted loans. A copy of the letter sent to Plaintiff Dykes
(the “Letter”) is attached hereto as Exhibit A.

11. The Letter was Van Ru’s initial communication with Plaintiff.
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12.  Upon information and belief, this form of letter was Van Ru’s initial
communication with the other members of the Class.

13.  The Letter, which bears the notation “1 of 2” on the first page, advises
Plaintiff Dykes and the class members, in prominent bold all caps lettering to “SEE
REVERSE SIDE FOR IMPORTANT INFORMATION”.

14. The letter also includes a second page, bearing the notations “2 of 27,
which contains additional instructions to Plaintiff Dykes and the class members.

15.  On page 2 of 2 of the Letter, Van Ru advises Plaintiff Dykes and the
class members that if they wish to dispute the default status of their loans, they
should submit a request in writing to inspect and copy the records pertaining to the
loan, or request a review regarding the legal enforceability or past status of the loan
obligation.

16.  The instructions to Plaintiff Dykes and the class members that in
order to dispute the debt, they should submit the request in writing overshadows
and circumvents the rights given to consumers under the FDCPA to dispute the
debt orally or in writing, and the requirement of debt collectors to advise consumers
of their right to dispute the debt, as set forth in 15 USC §1692g.

17.  Also on page 2 of 2 of the letter, Van Ru further advises Plaintiff Dykes
and the class members that they may request a review if they can prove the loan
was not past due with the lender, the loan balance 1s incorrect, or the consumer did
not incur the debt. Van Ru specifically tells Plaintiff Dykes and the class members

that they may not request a review for any of the following reasons: You failed to
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pay your lender; you failed to complete your education and/or were dissatisfied with
the school you attended; or you were unable to find employment in the field for
which the school prepared you.

18.  The least sophisticated consumer would believe, reading these
instructions, that they were obligated to repay the loan, even if they were
dissatisfied with the school due to fraud in the inducement by the school.

19.  Under federal law, fraud in the inducement by the school would be a
defense to the consumer’s obligation to repay the loan.

20. A consumer whose student loan was entered into as a result of fraud
by the school would likely be dissatisfied and unhappy with the school.

21.  The Letter instructs Plaintiff Dykes and the class members that even
if they are dissatisfied with the school, they do not have a right to have this
reviewed.

22.  Contrary to the statement in the Letter, Federal Law allows Plaintiff
Dykes and Class Members to have an administrative review of the student loan,
wherein they can contest the enforceability of the loan due to their dissatisfaction
with a school committing fraud against them.

23. Van Ru sent the Letter to Dykes on or about July 27, 2017.

24.  Dykes received the Letter shortly thereafter.

25.  Dykes read the Letter shortly after receiving it.

26.  The notices provided in 15 U.S.C. §1692g are required as they help

consumers determine whether a debt is legitimate, whether the debt is the
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consumer’s, and whether the debt is for the correct amount. In addition, although
the instructions for initiating administrative review of the loan, while not required,
must be accurate if they are given. When the instructions regarding eligibility for
an administrative review are given inaccurately or misleadingly, the student loan
borrower may be misled into believing they have no right to an administrative
review which they might otherwise have. Such an administrative hearing can
determine the validity and amount of any claim.

27. Instead of accurately providing these important and necessary notices
of the safeguards the student loan borrower has against improper claims, the
dunning letters sent by defendant lead the student loan borrower to believe that 1)
they must submit a dispute of the debt in writing; and 2) they could not initiate an
administrative review hearing of a student loan debt which was accrued through
the fraudulent actions of the school attended.

28. By failing effectively to convey to Plaintiff and the class members their
rights under the FDCPA, Defendant has harmed Plaintiffs and the class members.

29.  The acts and omissions of Defendant described above injured Plaintiff
and the class members in a concrete way. As a result of these acts and omissions,
Plaintiff and the class members were subjected to threats and collection attempts
from Defendant, which contained material misrepresentations that deceptively and
misleadingly advised from Plaintiff and the class members that they had no right to
an administrative review of the student loan based on fraud, and further lead

Plaintiff and the class members to believe that any dispute of the debt must be in
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writing, overshadowing specific notices which Congress put in place to protect and
safeguard debtors, as set forth in 15 U.S.C. §1692g. Plaintiff and the class members
were thus deprived of statutory verification rights which they would otherwise have
under 15 U.S.C. §1692g. In other words, Plaintiff and the class members suffered an
informational injury as a result of being deprived of information to which they were
legally entitled, and as a result of being supplied misleading information. This
injury also created a material risk of financial harm that Congress intended to
prevent by enacting the FDCPA — to wit, that Plaintiff, influenced by misleading
information, might make payment decisions that he might not have made had he
been given only truthful information.

30. The acts and omissions of Defendant described above injured Plaintiff
Dykes and the class members in a particularized way, in that Van Ru was obligated
by the FDCPA to supply non-misleading information to Plaintiffs specifically, by
virtue of the fact that Van Ru was attempting to collect a debt from Plaintiff.
Moreover, Van Ru was obligated by 15 USC §1692g to supply accurate disclosures of
the right to dispute a debt, not to the public at large, but to Plaintiffs specifically.

31. The debts that Defendant sought to collect from Plaintiff Dykes and
the class members were originally incurred for personal, family, or household

purposes.

V. Class Allegations

32.  Plaintiff restates, realleges and incorporates herein by reference all
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foregoing paragraphs as if set forth fully in this Count.

33.  Under Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, Plaintiff Dykes
brings this action for herself and on behalf of a class initially defined as follows:
All natural persons who are residents of Virginia who are similarly
situated to Plaintiff in that, within one year of the commencement of
this action and continuing to the date that an order is entered
certifying this class, Van Ru sent them a letter in a form substantially
similar or materially identical to Exhibit A.

34. The proposed Class is so numerous that joinder of all members would
be impracticable. Plaintiff does not know the size of the class, although this
information is known by the defendant and is readily ascertainable in discovery.
Based upon information readily available concerning the defendant, the size of its
operation, and its specialization in the collection of student loans, Plaintiff
estimates and accordingly alleges that there are hundreds and, in all probability,
thousands of individuals in the class.

35.  There is a community of interest among the members of the proposed
Class in that there are questions of law and fact common to the proposed Class that
predominate over questions affecting only individual members.

36.  Plaintiff’s claims are typical of those of the Class that she seeks to
represent. In addition, Plaintiff is entitled to relief under the same causes of action
as the other members of the putative class.

37.  Plaintiff is represented by counsel competent and experienced in both
consumer protection specific to student loans, and class action litigation, and she

has no conflicts with the members of the Class.

38. The common questions of law and fact predominate over any
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individual questions, in that the letters are form letters, and any individual
questions are subordinate to the common questions of whether Van Ru violated the
FDCPA by misrepresenting the class members’ rights under 20 U.S.C. § 1095a and
34 C.F.R. §§ 34:1-30.

39. A class action is superior to other methods for the fair and efficient
adjudication of the controversy. Because the damages suffered by individual class
members are relatively small compared to the expense and burden of litigation, it
would be impractical and economically unfeasible for class members to seek redress
individually. The prosecution of separate actions by the individual class members,
even if possible or likely, would create a risk of inconsistent or varying adjudications
with respect to the claims asserted by individual class members and could create
incompatible standards of conduct for the defendants. Moreover, because most class
members are unaware of their rights under 15 U.S.C. §1692¢ to dispute a debt
orally, or to seek a review and discharge of a student loan obligation based on fraud
by the school they attended, they are unlikely to bring an independent action, and a
class action is the only way that these violations can be rectified.

40. Injunctive relief is appropriate for the Class, under Fed. R. Civ. P.
23(b)(2). Class certification is appropriate because Defendant has acted on grounds
generally applicable to the Class, making appropriate equitable injunctive relief
with respect to Plaintiff Dykes and the Class members.

VI. Claims for Relief

First Cause of Action
Claims for Violations of 15 U.S.C. § 1692, et seq.
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41.  Plaintiff restates, realleges, and incorporates herein by reference all
foregoing paragraphs as if set forth fully in this Count.

42. Collection letters, such as those sent by Defendant, are to be evaluated by
the objective standard of the hypothetical “least sophisticated consumer.”

43. Section 1692e of the FDCPA prohibits a debt collector from using any
false, deceptive, or misleading representations in connection with the collection of
any debt. Specifically, FDCPA § 1692e(2)(A) states that a debt collector cannot
make a “false representation of the character, amount, or legal status of any debt.”
FDCPA § 1692e(10) prohibits “[t]he use of any false representation or deceptive
means to collect or attempt to collect any debt or to obtain information concerning a
consumer.”

44.Section 1692f of the FDCPA prohibits the use of “unfair or unconscionable
means to collect or attempt to collect any debt.”

45. Section 1692¢g of the FDCPA requires that a debt collector include a
validation notice with the initial communication to the consumer, or send such
notice within five days after the initial communication. Under FDCPA § 1692g(a)(1)
the validation notice must include a statement of the amount of the debt.
Furthermore, FDCPA §§ 1692g(a)(3), g(a)(4), and g(a)(5) require the validation
notice to advise the consumer as to certain federal rights in connection with a
procedure under which a consumer may dispute a debt, request verification of a
debt, or obtain the name and address of the creditor within 30 days of receiving the

initial validation notice from a debt collector.
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46. Under federal law, the notices required under 15 USC §1692g must be
effectively communicated, and may not be overshadowed, confounded or diluted as
seen from the perspective of the least sophisticated consumer.

47.  Van Ru violated the FDCPA by overshadowing and confounding the
required notices under 15 U.S.C. §1692g.

48. Van Ru further violated the FDCPA by providing a false and
misleading instruction on the availability of administrative review of the student
loan debt, to wit — it falsely told consumers that they could not seek review of a
student loan debt based on dissatisfaction with the school they attended, when in
fact, if the dissatisfaction as based on a fraudulent inducement to enter into the
loan, they could in fact seek such a review.

49. In other words, Van Ru violated the FDCPA as follows:
A. Van Ru provided information which overshadowed and
contradicted the required disclosures of 15 USC §1692¢g by
instructing consumers they needed to submit a request in

writing in order to dispute the default status of their loans

B. Van Ru falsely represented the character or legal status of
Plaintiffs’ debts; and

C. Van Ru used a false representation or deceptive means to collect
or attempt to collect a debt

D. Van Ru used unfair and unconscionable means to collect and attempt
to collect from Plaintiff and the class members.
50. Van Ru’s violations in turn violate specific enumerated sections of the

FDCPA, as follows:

A. It falsely represented that a consumer could not seek a review of

10
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a debt based on dissatisfaction with the school they attended,
even when that dissatisfaction was based on fraudulent
inducement, in violation of 15 U.S.C. §§ 1692e, 1692e(2), and
1692¢(10).

B. It used unfair and unconscionable means to collect and attempt
to collect from Plaintiffs and the class members, in violation of
15 U.S.C. § 1692f.

C. It violated 15 U.S.C. §1692g, by failing to provide proper notice
of the ability to dispute a debt orally and by adding limitations
to the circumstances under which a consumer may dispute a
debt — even though, under 15 U.S.C. §1692¢g, a consumer can
dispute a debt for any reason or no reason.

51.  Plaintiff Dykes and the class members have suffered concrete,
particularized harms to legally protected interests because Van Ru’s false,
deceptive, and misleading representations, as set forth above, could detrimentally
affect Plaintiffs’ decision-making with respect to their alleged debts.

52. Under 15 U.S.C. § 1692k, Van Ru is liable to Plaintiff and the Class

Members to whom 1t sent the letter.

Demand for Jury Trial
53.  Plaintiff demands trial by jury on all claims and all issues.
Prayer for Relief
WHEREFORE, Plaintiff Carolyn Dykes prays that this Court grant the
following relief in her favor, and on behalf of the class, and that judgment be
entered against Defendant for the following:

(A)  Actual damages as provided by § 1692k(a)(1) of the
FDCPA;

11
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(B)

(©)

(D)

(E)

Statutory damages as provided by § 1692k(a)(2) of
the FDCPA;

Attorneys’ fees, litigation expenses and costs;

A declaration that Defendants’ form letters,
represented by the form sent to the Plaintiff, a copy
of which 1is attached to this Complaint, violate the
FDCPA; and

Any other relief that this Court deems appropriate
under the circumstances.

PLAINTIFF,
CAROLYN DYKES

Individually And On Behalf Of The Class,

/s/ Thomas R. Breeden

Thomas R. Breeden, Virginia Bar No. 33410
Thomas R. Breeden, P.C.

10326 Lomond Drive

Manassas, VA 20109

Tel: (703) 361-9277

Fax: (703) 257-2259

Email: trb@tbreedenlaw.com

Brian L. Bromberg

Bromberg Law Office, P.C.

26 Broadway, 21st Floor

New York, NY 10004

Tel: (212) 248-7906

Fax: (212) 248-7908

Email: brian@bromberglawoffice.com
(Pro Hac Vice to be filed)

12



© Dept: HL30?. .
G easem? v 01111 AJT JFA Document 1- 1 Flled 10/04/17“@%%@@%@%3
' o RS _ : ' Chrcago IL'60630 . .
877—630 9017

: |||unh-lt-l.w:u-t.umm-"-||u-||n"|-!=nl Il wsomoze =y

LDHEE LONOND'

' '.||...u....|.,r 7..|',||.’__'r.'.r rl,i".f..;ii_r_

. **Detach Upper Partion And Retirn With Rayment™ -

‘Accou'nt #
900802479_5; 070 :

_The above account(s) has been placed W|th us for cotlectton Th:rs |s an mportantmatter and deserves your attentron

The above balance is the amount you owe as of the date of thrs Ietter Your payment made payabte to Van Ru Credlt _
Corporation, may be mailed in-the énclosed envelope. Because of interest, ‘which continues to accrue, and collection costs, the -
amount dué on the day you pay may be-different, so if you pay the amount shown above an adjustment may be necessary after-
we receive your payment in whrch event we wrll lnform you T Pl TR _ o Eh

'If you have any queshons or wrsh to discuss your account or payment optlons you may contact us at 877 630—901 7 You may
aiso visit irs: onlme at vanruezpay com To access your account onlme your user: |d is 651412579 and your PIN number IS
7848414 - : , _ U . B :

Unless you notlfy thrs offrce wrthm 30 days after recervmg thls notlce that you dlspute the vahdrty of thls debt or any
portion thereof, this office will assume this debt is valid. If you notify. this office in writing within 30 days from - :
receiving this notice that you dispute the validity of this debt or any-portion thereof, this office will obtain verification
of the debt or obtaina copy of a judgment and mail'you a copy of such judgment or verification. If you request of-this
office in writing within 30 days after receiving this notrce this- offlce wrll provrde you wrth the name and address of the
'orlgmal cred|tor if- drfferent from the current credltor . . o _ . g )

This commumcatlon is from a debt collector Thls is an attempt to collect a debt Any mformatron obtamed wrll be o
'used for that purpose . S e '

Van Ru Credit (_:or.poratlon

FPAR-209-8-0

NOTICE: SEE REVERSE SIDE FOR IMPORTANT INFORMATION.

Van Ru Credit Corporation + 4839 N Elston Ave » Chicago IL. 60630 » 877-630-9017
Mon-Thur 8am to 9pm Fri 8am to S5pm CT

1of2

H [ 17
w-ﬁ 103085-4118-126



Case 1:17-cv-01111-AJT-JFA Document 1-1 Filed 10/04/17 Page 2 of 4 PagelD# 14

We are required under state law to notify consumers of the following rights. This list does not contain a compiete list of the rights
consumers have under state and federal law.

Notice to California Residents:

The following is required by California law: it is not a complete list of the rights consumers have under state and federal law. The
state Rosenthal Fair Debt Collection Practices Act and the federal Fair Debt Collection Practices Act require that, except under
unusual circumstances, collectors may not contact you before 8 a.m. or after 9 p.m.. They may not harass you by using threats
of violence or arrest or by using obscene language. Collectors may not use false or misleading statements or call you at work if
they know or have reason to know that you may not receive personal calls at work. For the most part, collectors may not tell
another person, other than your attorney or spouse, about your debt. Coliectors may contact another person to confirm your
location or enforce judgment. For more information about debt collection activities, you may contact the Federal Trade
Commission at 1-877-FTC HELP or www.ftc.gov.

Notice to Colorado Residents:
The following is required by Colorado faw; it does not contain a complete list of consumer rights under state and federal law. A

consumer has the right to request in writing that a debt collector or collection agency cease further communication with the
consumer. A written request to cease communication will not prohibit the debt collector or collection agency from taking any
other action authorized by law to collect the debt.

FOR INFORMATION ABOUT THE COLORADO FAIR DEBT COLLECTION PRACTICES ACT, SEE WWW.COAG.GOV/CAR.

Our local office address is: 1776 S. Jackson Street, #900, Denver, CO 80210.
The local office telephone number is: 720-287-8686.

Notice to Massachusetts Residents:

NOTICE OF IMPORTANT RIGHTS

YOU HAVE THE RIGHT TO MAKE A WRITTEN OR ORAL REQUEST THAT TELEPHONE CALLS REGARDING YOUR
DEBT NOT BE MADE TO YOU AT YOUR PLACE OF EMPLOYMENT. ANY SUCH ORAL REQUEST WILL BE VALID FOR
ONLY TEN DAYS UNLESS YOU PROVIDE WRITTEN CONFIRMATION OF THE REQUEST POSTMARKED OR
DELIVERED WITHIN SEVEN DAYS OF SUCH REQUEST. YOU MAY TERMINATE THIS REQUEST BY WRITING TO THE
DEBT COLLECTOR.

Notice to Minnesota Residents:
This collection agency is licensed by the Minnescta Department of Commerce.

Notice to North Carolina Residents: North Carolina Permit Numbers 3543, 109752,
Notice to New York City Residents: New York City Department of Consumer Affairs License numbers 1270471, 1416007,

Notice to Tennessee Residents:
This collection agency is licensed by the Collection Service Board of the Department of Commerce and Insurance.

Notice to Wisconsin Residents:
This collection agency is licensed by the Division of Banking in the Wisconsin Department of Financial Institutions,

www.wdfi.org.
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